KENDALL COUNTY REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION

Kendall County Office Building Rooms 209 and 210 111 W. Fox Street, Yorkville, Illinois

Approved - Meeting Minutes of August 23, 2023 - 7:00 p.m.

Chairman Bill Ashton called the meeting to order at 7:10 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Members Present: Bill Ashton, Eric Bernacki, Larry Nelson, Bob Stewart, Claire Wilson, and Seth Wormley Members Absent: Tom Casey, Dave Hamman, Karin McCarthy-Lange, and Ruben Rodriguez Staff Present: Matthew H. Asselmeier, Director Others Present: Jeff Milroy, Jesse Sexton, and Dan Nagel

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Member Wilson made a motion, seconded by Member Bernacki, to approve the agenda. With a voice vote of six (6) ayes, the motion carried.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Member Nelson made a motion, seconded by Member Wilson, to approve the minutes of the of the July 26, 2023, meeting. With a voice vote of six (6) ayes, the motion carried.

Member Bernacki noted that the Gas-N-Wash on Caton Farm Road and Ridge is presently under construction and not open.

PETITION

Petition 23-26 Jeffery D. Milroy

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

On March 19, 2014, through Ordinance 2014-04, the County Board granted a special use permit, with conditions for the operation of a composting facility at the subject property. Ordinance 2014-04 required the property owner to submit a renewal prior to July 1, 2023, or the special use permit would expire on December 1, 2023. The property owner submitted the required renewal on June 30, 2023.

The subject property has operated as a composting facility since 1993.

The Petitioners are requesting the special use permit for the approximately thirty-nine point eight-seven (39.87) acres located in the unincorporated area. They are not renewing the special use permit for operations inside the United City of Yorkville. This reduces operations from approximately fifty-eight (58) acres.

The Host Community Agreement also expires in 2023. The Planning, Building and Zoning Committee met on July 10, 2023, to discuss renewing the agreement. They requested additional information regarding the amount of and types of materials coming into and out of the property. The Petitioner answered those questions at the Planning, Building and Zoning Committee meeting on August 7, 2023, and the proposed Host Community Agreement was forwarded to the State's Attorney's Office for review.

Green Organics is no longer associated with the property.

The application materials, Ordinance 2014-04, the plat of survey, the business plan, including the site plan and landscaping plan, and the decommissioning plan were provided.

On August 17, 2023, the Petitioner submitted a revised site plan, which was provided. The Petitioner admitted that this site plan was a working copy and not necessarily the final version of the proposal.

The original submitted site plan and the revised site plan do not match the approved site plan on file with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources. This site plan was provided.

The property is located at 1270 E. Beecher Road.

The property is just under forty (40) acres in size.

The County's Future Land Use Map calls for the western end of the property to be Mixed Use Business and the eastern part of the property to be Suburban Residential. Yorkville's plan calls for the property to be Estate/Conservation Residential.

E. Beecher Road is a Local Road maintained by Bristol Township.

There is a proposed trail along E. Beecher Road.

There are no floodplains on the property. There is a wetland on the extreme northwest corner of the property.

The adjacent land use to the west is Manufacturing. The other adjacent land uses are Agricultural.

The adjacent properties are zoned A-1, A-1 SU, M-2 and M-3 SU in the County. The adjacent properties inside Yorkville are zoned R-2 Planned Unit Development and R-2, R-4, and B-3 Planned Unit Development.

The County's Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Suburban Residential, Mixed Use Business, and Urban Area. Yorkville Future Land Use Map calls for the area to be Estate/Conservation Residential.

The zoning districts within one half (1/2) mile in the County are A-1, A-1 SU, M-1, M-2, and M-3 SU. Inside Yorkville, there are a variety of residential planned unit developments.

The A-1 SU to the south was for gravel mining. The M-3 SU to the west was for asphalt production.

EcoCAT Report was submitted on June 22, 2023. The Mottled Sculpin and Rusty Patch Bumble Bee were in the vicinity. The Illinois Department of Natural Resources recommended that work that disturbs the ground or removes flowering plants be done between October 1st and April 1st. If work occurred outside of the dates listed, a Rusty Patch Bumble Bee survey should be conducted by a qualified biologist, with the results forwarded to the Illinois Department of Natural Resources. The consultation also noted that coordination with the United States Fish and Wildlife Service may be necessary. The consultation also contained suggestions for lighting. The consultation was closed if the recommendations related to the Rusty Patch Bumble Bee were implemented. The EcoCat Report was provided.

The Petitioner was not agreeable to either recommendation related to the Rusty Patch Bumble Bee. The Illinois Department of Natural Resources said if that if the Petitioner impacted the Rusty Patch Bumble Bee, that would be problematic.

The NRI Application was submitted on June 20, 2023. The LESA score was 175, indicating a low level of protection. The NRI Report was provided.

Petition information was sent to Bristol Township on July 19, 2023. No comments were received.

KCRPC Meeting Minutes 8.23.23

Prior to formal application submittal, Staff contacted Yorkville regarding potential comments on the application. Yorkville requested the following items:

- 1. A thirty foot (30') wide buffer with a berm at least three feet (3') in height and consisting of two (2) shade trees, five (5) evergreen trees, and three (3) ornamental trees per one hundred (100) linear feet of buffer; they favored a minimum fifteen (15') foot wide buffer.
- 2. Odor control regulations including using an ASTM certified portable olfactometer, notification by the County to the property owner/business operator within two (2) business days of findings, and a requirement that the property owner/business operator respond within five (5) business days of receiving the notice with corrective action steps. Yorkville's performance standards related to odor were submitted to the County.
- 3. A condition that the property owner/business operator submit a written response within seven (7) days of receiving a complaint for a non-odor violation outlining steps taken to correct the issue of the complaint.
- 4. The submission of a detailed decommissioning plan.
- 5. A requirement that notification of operation management changes and contact information be updated annually with the County.

Staff has concerns regarding the requested procedure of enforcement because the requested method presently contradicts the County's current voluntary compliance policy and the regular procedures for handling alleged violations in the Zoning Ordinance. Also, the County does not presently own an olfactometer. Lastly, the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency has rules regarding complaints.

Yorkville's email and Staff's response were provided.

The Petitioner was agreeable to certain landscaping, the submission of a decommissioning plan, the request regarding change of management and updated contact information.

Petition information was sent to the United City of Yorkville on July 19, 2023.

The August Yorkville Economic Development Committee and Planning and Zoning Commission meetings were cancelled. The proposal was reviewed at the Yorkville City Council meeting on August 8, 2023, with no comments, and was reviewed again at the August 22, 2023, Yorkville City Council meeting. The Yorkville City Council recommended approval of the proposal. A memo from the United City of Yorkville on the steps they would take to address odor complaints was provided.

Petition information was sent to the Bristol Kendall Fire Protection District on July 19, 2023. No comments were received.

The Kendall County ZPAC reviewed the proposal at their meeting on August 1, 2023. Discussion occurred regarding odor control measures. The Committee did not believe that using an olfactometer, as Yorkville recommended, was practical. The Committee favored requiring the operator of the business allowed by the special use permit to track wind daily, avoid turning the windrows when the wind was blowing to populated areas, and adding an amendment to the windrows in cases when turning was necessary and the wind was blowing towards populated areas. The Committee expressed little concern

regarding the Illinois Department of Natural Resource's recommendation related to the Rusty Patch Bumble Bee. The Committee was concerned about runoff. Discussion occurred regarding the definition of food scraps; food scraps were collected from grocery stores and include items that were composted at homes. A recommendation regarding equipment at the property being classified as non-agricultural was removed. ZPAC recommended approval of the proposal with the removal of the condition related to the classification of equipment and add a requirement requiring the operator of the business to track wind direction and speed daily and add amendments to the composting materials if windrows are turned with winds blowing in unfavorable directions by a vote of six (6) in favor and zero (0) in opposition with four (4) members absent. The minutes of the meeting were provided.

Per Section 7:01.D.20 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance, composting businesses can be special uses on A-1 zoned property subject to the following conditions:

- 1. The facility shall meet all Illinois Environmental Protection Agency requirements as identified in Title 35, Subtitle G, Chapter 1, Subchapter 1, Part 830, Standards for compost facilities.
- 2. Operational personnel shall be present on site during all hours which the facility is open for the receipt of landscape waste.
- 3. The hours during which landscape waste may be received shall be 7:00am to 4:00pm Monday through Friday and 7:00am to 12:00 noon Saturday. Processing operations shall cease after each day's receipts have been processed and placed in windrows, not to exceed three (3) additional hours.
- 4. The decibel levels at the property line shall not exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board standards.
- 5. A locked gate shall restrict vehicle access during closed hours except that a "lock-box" shall allow access to emergency vehicles.
- 6. Water samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling.
- 7. Soil samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling.
- 8. Authorized Kendall County personnel shall be allowed on site during business hours for inspection and testing.
- 9. The facility operator shall send up-to-date copies of the State permit and related documents including Operational Plan, Surface Water Management Plan, Pest Control Plan, Site Drawing, and an Annual Report to the County Solid Waste Coordinator.
- 10. Truck weights shall be limited to seventy-three thousand, two hundred eighty (73,280) pounds.
- 11. The operator shall provide weight receipts to Kendall County.

- 12. Off-site debris and trash generated by the site must be cleaned-up daily on surrounding properties with the owner's permission.
- 13. Other conditions as appropriate for the particular facility.

The Petitioner is agreeable to conditions 1-12.

When the special use permit was originally granted in the 1990s, they were originally allowed to process one hundred fifty thousand (150,000) cubic yards of source separated landscape materials. This number was increased to one hundred seventy-five thousand (175,000) cubic yards in 2014.

Starting in 2010, the facility was allowed to accept food scraps.

The original site plan showed several twenty-five foot (25') wide windrows. These windrows are separated by ten foot (10') foot driving aisles. Most of the windrows are eight feet (8') tall or less in height.

The revised site plan showed thirty-two windrows. No information was provided regarding driving aisles. Windrows might extend to the cultivation line. Final elevations will change for composting surface depending on excavated materials used for the pond.

Bulk agent storage areas separate the east and west windrow areas.

Both site plans show one (1) final cure storage area, one (1) grinding and blending concrete pad, and one (1) receiving pad. No information was provided regarding the dimensions of these areas.

As noted previously, the hours when landscape waste can be received are between 7:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. on Mondays through Fridays and 7:00 a.m. until Noon on Saturdays. Processing operations may continue for a maximum three (3) additional hours.

As noted in the Decommissioning Plan, the site will be converted back to farming within five (5) months, this includes the removal materials, grading, seeding, and removal of all structures. The Petitioner planned to reevaluate the Decommissioning Plan.

No information was provided regarding the number of employees at the property.

The use has been at the property since 1993.

There have not been any founded complaints against the property in recent years.

One (1) approximately four hundred twenty (420) square foot office trailer is shown on the plan near the southeast corner of the site.

After the ZPAC meeting, the Petitioners indicated that they may install another building on the property. On the revised site plan, one (1) sixty foot by eighty foot (60'X80') building was shown. This structure was twenty-four feet (24') tall. The building would be used for storage of equipment. The final location of the building was undetermined.

The property is served by a well and septic. The well is located at the southeast corner of the property.

The Petitioner is agreeable to the requirements related to water samples and soil samples, inspection and testing, and submitting copies of the State permit, operational plan, surface water management plan, pest control plan, KCRPC Meeting Minutes 8.23.23 Page 5 of 12

site drawings, annual report, and decommissioning plan. The Petitioner is also agreeable to providing weight receipts to Kendall County.

The Solid Waste Coordinator shall maintain a log of complaints received on the facility.

Sampling schedules are noted on in the business plan.

Though not shown on the site plan, a dumpster is located on the property. The business plan notes a requirement to clean-up offsite debris and trash daily on surrounding properties.

NICOR possesses an easement north of the existing driveway.

Overhead utilities run from E. Beecher Road to the office trailer.

The property drains to the south and west.

One (1) existing detention basin is shown on the site plan north of parking area. The original site plan also shows one (1) proposed detention basin southwest of the western windrows. One twenty-five foot (25') wide drainage swale is shown west of the western windrows. No information was provided regarding the dimensions of the detention basins or the depth of the drainage swale. The revised site plan shows a much larger water reuse and detention pond.

The Petitioners submitted an application for a stormwater management permit. WBK submitted comments in a letter dated July 15, 2023, which was provided. Staff was waiting for comments from the Petitioner regarding WBK's comments. At the Petitioner's request, the revised site plan was not sent to WBK.

As mentioned previously, the submitted site plans did not match the site plan on file with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources. The State has not evaluated the impact of the proposed site plans on the Surface Water Management Plan presently on file with the State.

Per the site plan, the subject property has an asphalt drive to E. Beecher Road.

The Petitioner is agreeable to the truck weight restriction contained in the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.

According to the revised site plan, one (1) gravel parking area was shown north of the office trailer and one (1) handicapped accessible parking space was shown east of the office trailer. The total number of park stalls was seven (7). The parking stalls did not meet the minimum depth requirement of twenty feet (20') as outlined in Section 11:02.F.4 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.

The site plan shows one (1) truck turn around area.

No information was provided regarding lighting. Because of the small number of parking spaces, a photometric plan was not required.

According to the business plan, one (1) existing sign is located on the property. The sign is not illuminated. The information on the sign is required per Illinois Environmental Protection Agency rules.

One (1) additional no trespassing sign is located on the interior gate.

According to original the site plan, there is a fence along the western and northern sides of the property. There is also a fifteen foot (15') wide buffer between the eastern property line and the berm. The business plan KCRPC Meeting Minutes 8.23.23 Page 6 of 12

references a locked gate. The gate is locked during closed hours, but a lock box is available for emergency response vehicles.

Per the original site plan, one (1) fifteen foot (15') wide berm is shown near the eastern property line. A twenty-five foot (25') wide berm is shown near the western and northern property lines. Per the business plan, the eastern berm will be three feet (3') in height. Landscaping consisting of pines, fir, and/or shade trees will be planted at spacing not to exceed forty feet (40') apart. Seedling will be a minimum of six inches (6") in height and will be planted within one (1) year of the issuance of the special use permit. The business plan also references maintaining the existing plantings on the berm and ditch and existing landscaping. No information was provided regarding plantings on the western or northern berms or the composition of the existing landscaping and plantings on the property.

No landscaping information was provided on the revised site plan.

Per the business plan, noise levels cannot exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board standards.

The business plan references odor control strategies generally. Illinois Environmental Protection Agency rules requires operators of composting facilities to prepare an odor minimization plan. Staff has requested a copy of this plan.

The Health Department requested that a water truck be onsite for dusty conditions and that the operator be required to chart wind direction and speed daily. The Petitioner was in agreement regarding the water truck condition, but was not in favor of charting wind speeds.

This is the only property to have a special use permit for a composting facility in unincorporated Kendall County.

The proposed Findings of Fact were as follows:

The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. The operation is controlled by the EPA and inspected regularly by the Health Department and have not found anything to endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare.

The special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood. The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question shall be considered in determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use makes adequate provisions for appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, open space and other improvements necessary to insure that the proposed use does not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the surrounding area and/or the County as a whole. The operation has been open since 1993 with some minor debris issues a long time ago and since then there have been no complaints or issues. Reasonable restrictions may be placed in the special use permit to address hours of operation, dust, and odor control measures. No evidence has been provided suggesting that property values have declined in the area since the facility commenced operations.

Adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided. The special use will not be adding any new utilities or roadways to the property. They will use the current access point onto Beecher Road which has a gate which will be closed KCRPC Meeting Minutes 8.23.23 Page 7 of 12

unless the operation is open. State law and the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance require a Surface Water Management Plan.

The special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the County Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals. This is true; no variances are requested.

The special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. This operation existed before the Land Resource Management Plan existed and the plan calls for the area to be residential which it could be when/if this operation ever ceases to exist.

Staff would like confirmation that the revised site plan will be the final version of the controlling site plan for the property. Staff would also like to see a phasing plan by which the old, State approved site plan is phased out and the new site plan is brought online. The general conditions and restrictions would be as follows:

- 1. The facility shall comply with the conditions as they are listed in the applicable sections of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance related to the composting of landscape waste and food waste, subject to the following:
 - a. The facility shall meet all Illinois Environmental Protection Agency requirements as identified in the applicable sections of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.
 - b. Operational personnel shall be present on site during all hours which the facility is open for the receipt of landscape waste.
 - c. The hours during which landscape waste may be received shall be 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on Monday through Fridays and 7:00 a.m. to Noon on Saturdays. Processing operations shall cease after each day's receipts have been processed and placed in windrows, not to exceed three (3) additional hours.
 - d. The decibel levels at the property line shall not exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board standards.
 - e. Water samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling.
 - f. Soil samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling.
 - g. Authorized Kendall County personnel shall be allowed on site during business hours for inspection and testing.
 - h. The facility operator shall send up-to-date copies of the State permit and related documents including Operational Plan, Surface Water Management Plan, Pest Control Plan, Site Drawing, and an Annual Report to the County Solid Waste Coordinator.

i. Truck weights shall be limited to seventy-three thousand, two hundred eighty (73,280) pounds. KCRPC Meeting Minutes 8.23.23 Page 8 of 12

- j. The operator shall provide weight receipts to Kendall County.
- k. Off-site debris and trash generated by the site must be cleaned-up on a daily basis on surrounding properties with the owner's permission.
- 1. Implement strategies to manage potential odor issues such as maintaining proper carbon to-nitrogen ratios, maintaining moisture levels, and sufficient turning of compost piles to enhance decomposition.
- m. Install water spraying systems or dust suppression equipment at critical points of dust generation. Regularly monitor moisture content and use sprinkler systems or misters to dampen the compost as needed.
- The facility will be permitted to take in one hundred seventy-five thousand (175,000) cubic yards of source-separated landscape materials (i.e. brush, leaves, tree trimmings, grass and food waste). (Amended after ZPAC)
- 3. The site shall be developed substantially in accordance with the site plan and the site plan shall be kept on file as "Exhibit A" attached hereto.
- 4. As noted on the site plan, a fifteen foot (15') buffer and a berm will be provided between the composting area and the United City of Yorkville's boundary. The berm will be at least fifteen feet (15') wide and three feet (3') high. The buffer landscaping will be composed primarily of pine, fir, and/or shade trees planted at spacing not to exceed forty feet (40') apart. Seedlings will be a minimum of six inches (6") in height. Specimen seedlings will be planted and the berm will be constructed within one (1) year of issuance of the special use permit ordinance. The Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Committee may grant an extension to the deadline to install the berms and landscaping.
- 5. The facility operator shall maintain existing plantings on the berm and ditch.
- 6. The facility operator shall maintain the security gate, signage, and landscaping as indicated on "Exhibit B" attached hereto. The locked gate shall restrict vehicle access during closed hours except that a "lockbox" shall allow access to emergency vehicles.
- 7. The facility operator shall maintain a sampling schedule as shown on "Exhibit C" attached hereto dated March 11, 2008.
- 8. The County Solid Waste Coordinator shall maintain a log of complaints received on the facility.
- 9. This special use Ordinance shall expire on December 1, 2033, and the petition for renewal shall be made prior to July 1, 2033.
- 10. If any Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) violations or citations are received by the site operator/manager and/or parcel owner/manager they need to be submitted to the County Solid Waste Coordinator within thirty (30) days.
- 11. The operator of the business allowed by the special use permit shall follow the Decommissioning Plan as described in Exhibit D. The operator shall assume all of the responsibilities assigned to Green Organics in the plan. The Decommissioning Plan shall be kept on file in the site trailer office per EPA requirements and will be accessible to the Kendall County Health Inspector. The operator of the

business allowed by the special use permit shall update the Kendall County Health Department within thirty (30) days of changes to the Decommissioning Plan.

- 12. The operator of the business allowed by the special use permit shall notify the Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Department within thirty (30) days of changes in operation manager. In addition, the operator of the business allowed by this special use permit shall provide contact information of the management operator annually by July 1st.
- 13. The operator of the business allowed by the special use permit shall ensure a host community agreement is in existence with the County prior to operations.
- 14. Ordinance 2014-04 and all previous special use permits and amendments to special use permits related to the operation of composting facility on the subject property are hereby repealed in their entireties.
- 15. None of the vehicles or equipment parked or stored on the subject property related to the business allowed by the special use permit shall be considered agricultural vehicles or agricultural equipment. (Deleted at ZPAC)
- 16. All of the vehicles and equipment stored on the subject property related to the business allowed by the special use permit shall be maintained in good condition with no deflated tires and shall be licensed if required by law.
- 17. Any structures constructed, installed, or used related to the business allowed by this special use permit on the property shall not be considered for agricultural purposes and must secure applicable building permits.
- 18. At least one (1) water truck shall be onsite for dust control purposes. (Added after ZPAC)
- 19. The operator of the business allowed by this special use permit shall track wind direction and speed daily and add amendments to the composting materials if windrows are turned with winds blowing towards populated areas. (Added after ZPAC)
- 20. The owners and operators of the business allowed by this special use permit acknowledge and agree to follow Kendall County's Right to Farm Clause.
- 21. The property owner and operator of the business allowed by this special use permit shall follow all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws related to the operation of this type of business.
- 22. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- 23. If one or more of the above conditions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.
- 24. This special use permit shall be treated as a covenant running with the land and are binding on the successors, heirs, and assigns as to the same special use conducted on the property.

Member Nelson asked about the tipping fee. Mr. Asselmeier said the tipping fee was in the host agreement. Member Nelson wanted to make sure that the Petitioners were current on the tipping fee and he would like to see a requirement in the special use permit stating that they had to be current on tipping fee payments. Member Bernacki asked if a deadline existed for the decommissioning plan. Mr. Asselmeier said the decommissioning plan was in the packet and explained the process for amending the decommissioning plan.

Member Wilson asked if a bond would be posted to guarantee the decommissioning plan. Mr. Asselmeier responded the bonding requirements were set and posted by the State. Discussion occurred regarding updating the bond figures in the decommissioning plan. The property owner was ultimately responsible for cleaning up the property. The State controls approving the dollar amounts in the decommissioning plan.

Jeff Milroy, Petitioner, discussed the decommissioning plan for the use on the Yorkville portion of the operations and related legal settlements. He will update the decommissioning plan when the State permit is transferred to him; he did not have a copy of the legal agreement between Yorkville and Green Organics.

Discussion occurred regarding surrounding land uses in relation to odors. Mr. Asselmeier said that Yorkville submitted a request regarding procedures and methods for addressing odor complaints.

Dan Nagel explained that the adjoining properties in Yorkville were zoned residential. He intended to use a portion his property for a solar field. The composting business will operate in the County only and not inside Yorkville. The solar field will create a buffer between residential uses and the composting facility.

Member Wilson asked about the acceptance of food scraps. The Petitioner would be taking in food scraps per the IEPA guidelines, which was up to ten percent (10%) of the materials collected. Member Nelson asked about the definition of food scraps. Jesse Sexton, Operator of the Facility since 1999, explained the types of food scraps that would be accepted, no meat or dairy would be accepted. Concerns about attracting rodents and pest were unfounded.

Member Bernacki asked about tracking wind speed and direction. Mr. Sexton said they do monitor wind, but, if the facility was operated correctly, odor would not be an issue. Mr. Milroy disagreed with the condition requiring avoiding turning the windrows when the wind was blowing towards populated areas; he did not oppose tracking the wind generally. Mr. Milroy questioned the meaning of populated area. Discussion occurred about maintaining a wind log in relation to complaints. Mr. Milroy explained when the IEPA wanted piles turned in relation to wind. Mr. Sexton explained the timing and rationale for turning windrows in relation to temperature for decomposition.

Member Wilson asked what percentage of the site would be used for composting operations. The response was seventy-five percent (75%).

Member Wormley stated that he was not in favor of not allowing the turning of windrows when the winds were blowing towards populated areas because the restriction could negatively impact the operations of the business and create additional odor problems. He also noted the service provided by the business allowed by the special use permit. He also expressed his support for existing businesses.

Member Wormley made a motion, seconded by Member Nelson, to recommend approval of the renewal of the special use permit. Chairman Ashton asked which site plan would be the controlling plan. Mr. Milroy explained the history of developing the site plan. Discussion occurred regarding amending special use permits. Mr. Milroy also explained some site work that will occur at the property. Member Wormley withdrew is original motion and Member Nelson withdrew his second.

Member Wormley made a motion, seconded by Member Nelson, to recommend approval of the renewal of the special use permit using the revised site plan as the controlling site plan.

Mr. Nagel discussed drainage related to the Rob Roy Creek Drainage District and getting the District's KCRPC Meeting Minutes 8.23.23 Page 11 of 12

equipment near the Creek.

The Petitioner would still need to comply with IEPA requirements related to the site plan.

The new building would not be an agricultural exempt building.

The votes were as follows:			
Ayes (6):	Ashton, Bernacki, Nelson, Stewart, Wilson, and Wormley		
Nays (0):	None		
Absent (4):	Casey, Hamman, McCarthy-Lange, and Rodriguez		
Abstain (0):	None		

The motion carried. The proposal will go to the Kendall County Zoning Board of Appeals on August 28, 2023.

<u>CITIZENS TO BE HEARD/PUBLIC COMMENT</u>

None

NEW BUSINESS

Village of Plainfield Community Visioning Workshops

Commissioners reviewed the flyer for the workshops. Member Bernacki planned to attend the Wednesday workshop. If necessary, the Commission might a pass resolution related to Plainfield's proposal.

Member Nelson would like to review the Future Land Use Maps for Minooka and Shorewood.

Joliet has not been actively updating their Comprehensive Plan.

OLD BUSINESS

None

<u>REVIEW OF PETITIONS THAT WENT TO COUNTY BOARD</u> None

OTHER BUSINESS/ANNOUNCEMENTS

None

ADJOURNMENT

Member Nelson made a motion, seconded by Member Wormley, to adjourn. With a voice vote of six (6) ayes, the motion carried.

The Kendall County Regional Planning Commission meeting adjourned at 8:12 p.m.

Respectfully submitted by, Matthew H. Asselmeier, AICP, CFM Director

Encs.

A

KENDALL COUNTY REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION AUGUST 23, 2023

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO BE CONTACTED ON FUTURE MEETINGS REGARDING THIS TOPIC, PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR ADDRESS OR EMAIL ADDRESS

NAME	ADDRESS (OPTIONAL)	EMAIL ADDRESS (OPTIONAL)	
Of Noget		9	





To: City Council
From: Krysti J. Barksdale-Noble, Community Development Director
CC: Bart Olson, City Administrator
Date: August 10, 2023
Subject: PZC 2023-11- Kendall County Petition 23-26 Milroy Farm - 1270 E. Beecher Road - 1.5 Mile Review (Special Use)

SUMMARY:

Staff has reviewed a request from Kendall County Planning and Zoning Department along with the subsequent documents attached. This property is located within one and a half miles of the planning boundary for Yorkville, allowing the City the opportunity to review and provide comments to Kendall County. The petitioner, Jefferey D. Milroy on behalf of Milroy Farms, LLC, is requesting to renew its current special use permit, approved in 2014, for the operation of a compost facility on approximately 39.87 acres in unincorporated Kendall County. The current special use authorization is set to expire in Kendall County on December 1, 2023. If approved, the new special use will expire on December 1, 2033. The petitioner is not seeking to continue the compost facility on the adjacent (east) approximately 18-acre parcel located within Yorkville's corporate boundary, which was required to be decommissioned on or by March 2, 2024, per a Settlement Agreement with the City. Additionally, the petitioner states the compost facility will not be run by the previous operator, Green Organics. The subject property is located at 1270 E. Beecher Road which is generally located on the east side of E. Beecher Road and approximately 0.5 miles south of Galena Road.

STAFF COMMENTS

Staff has reviewed the request for special use renewal for the compost facility and still has some specific concerns related to the odor control regulations. **Staff would recommend** that in the event the City of Yorkville receives an odor complaint, the City can reach out directly to the property owner and Kendall County's Solid Waste Coordinator and receive a response in writing as to how the odor will be/was mitigated within seven (7) business days.

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

This item was scheduled to be discussed at the August 9, 2023 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. However, this meeting was unable to be held due to a lack of quorum, therefore, no recommendation or objection to the special use request was provided.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. PZC Memorandum
- 2. Application with Attachments